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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	:
	Mr P Hare

	Representative
	
	Mr Steve Jary of Prospect (Mr Hare’s Union) (Mr Jary)

	Scheme
	:
	Metropolitan Civil Staffs Superannuation Scheme (the Scheme)

	Respondent
	:
	Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) 


MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION
1. Mr Hare’s complaint has two heads:

(a) He is aggrieved by the refusal of MPS to pay him an injury benefit from the Scheme. 
(b) He was granted medical early retirement after he was dismissed from service but feels that this should be backdated to 31 January 1997, the date he first applied for it.

2. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of facts or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

THE SCHEME RULES
3. Section 11 of the Scheme Rules provides for an injury benefit to be paid to a member whose earnings capacity is impaired by an injury attributable to his employment. The amount of any award is based on the level of impairment of earnings as assessed by the Scheme's Medical Adviser. The benefits are designed to bring the member’s income from specified sources up to a guaranteed minimum income figure. Awards may be temporary, when a person is on sick leave due to a qualifying injury, or permanent, when the member leaves service.

4. Rule 11.3 stated at the relevant time that the provisions of the section may be applied to any person:

“(i)
who suffers an injury in the course of official duty, provided that such an injury is solely attributable to the nature of the duty or arises from an accident reasonably incidental to that duty, or

(ii)
who suffers an injury as a result of an attack or similar act which is directly attributable to his being employed, or holding office, as a person to whom the section applies; or..”

5. Rule 11.6 states:

Subject to the provision of this section, any person to whom this part of this section applies whose earning capacity is impaired because of injury and:

(i) whose service is ended otherwise than at his own request ... before the retiring age may be paid an annual allowance and lump sum according to the medical assessment of the impairment of his earning capacity, the length of his service, and his pensionable pay when his service ends;

(ii) whose service is ended at his own request or who is discharged for disciplinary reasons, may be eligible on reaching retirement age for an annual allowance and lump sum according to the demonstrated impairment of his earnings capacity, the length of his service and his pensionable pay at the date of his resignation or discharge.

(iii) who is receiving sick pay or sick pay at pension rate for his injury, or whose entitlement to paid sick leave has expired ... may be paid a temporary allowance under this section of an amount sufficient to bring the said total up to the guaranteed minimum income for total incapacity;

(iv) who has not retired but because of his injury is employed in a lower grade or in a different capacity with loss of earnings, may be paid an annual allowance in accordance with the medical assessment of impairment of earning capacity ... subject to suspension or abatement in accordance with rules 3.26 and 3.27 [relating to re-employment]...;

6. Rule 3.4 provides for a civil servant who is retired on medical grounds to be paid an ill health pension. Retirement on medical grounds is defined by Rule 1.12 as meaning retirement from the Civil Service with a medical certificate acceptable to the Minister which states that the person concerned is prevented by ill health from discharging his duties, and that his ill health is likely to be permanent. 

A member retiring on medical grounds is entitled to an enhanced pension.
7. A member with two or more years’ qualifying service is entitled to a preserved award of pension and lump sum. Rule 3.14 provides that:

“Where a person:

(i) has been awarded a preserved pension and lump sum,

(ii) has left the service, and

(iii) falls ill before attaining the age of 60

the pension and lump sum may be brought into immediate payment if it is established that the illness would have led to his retirement on medical grounds had he remained in the Civil Service.”
8.
Rule 1.14 provides that: “Any question under the Scheme shall be determined by the Minister, whose decision on it shall be final.”
Management Arrangements 
9.
Originally the Scheme was separate from the Principal Civil Service Scheme but had identical rules. From September 2002 the scheme was incorporated into the Principal Civil Service Scheme and CSP became the Manager.
10.
The Civil Service Management Code (the CSM Code) provides that:

“Departments and agencies may retire staff early on medical grounds.  Staff may also apply for medical retirement.  A medical certificate must be issued in each case by the medical services adviser appointed by the Cabinet Office (OPS) for provisions relating to the PCSPS, before retirement can go ahead.  … The criteria for medical retirement, that the breakdown in health is such that it prevents the person from carrying out his or her duties and that the ill-health is likely to be permanent, are therefore set by Civil Service Pensions Division, Cabinet Office (OPS) on the advice of their medical advisers.”

11.
Retrospective Ill Health Retirement [RIHR] is not specifically mentioned in the Rules, but the Scheme has a practice of awarding this if it can be shown that, at the time the member left employment, he or she would have met the criteria for IHR.  If successful, the member will be entitled to an enhanced pension as if he or she had retired on medical grounds. The practice is documented in a chapter of the Pensions Manual says:

“A former member may claim that their state of health at the time of resignation was such that they would have been entitled at the time to medical retirement.  The former employing department must refer the case, with supporting documents, to the Cabinet Office if they consider the claim to be justified.”

12.
CSP’s practice is to consider applications for RIHR:

· if the member resigned for medical reasons and was unaware that he could apply for IHR;

· if the member was dismissed on inefficiency grounds, connected with sickness absence, without consideration having been given to IHR; or

· where an error occurred in the original handling of the case, for example where the employing department should have referred the individual for consideration of IHR but failed to do so.

13. The CSM Code is issued under the authority of a Civil Service Order in Council which provides that the Minister may make Regulations and give instructions for controlling the conduct of the Service including the making and amendment of the CSM Code. The CSM Code sets out a procedure for dealing with appeals in respect of a decision not to allow medical retirement, or to apply compulsory retirement, as the case may be.  Details are set out in the Pensions Manual.
14. The CSM Code and Pensions Manual set out a three stage process for dealing with such appeals:
14.1. At the first stage, the member submits new medical evidence in support of his case to his employing department.  This is then forwarded to the Scheme’s medical adviser together with the documentation submitted for the initial decision.  A senior physician will then examine this documentation to determine whether the original decision should be maintained or overturned.
14.2. At the second stage, the member’s appeal will be forwarded to the medical adviser’s Director of Occupational Health for consideration as to whether the procedural and professional elements have been properly applied in the original decision.  If the original decision is not overturned, the case may be prepared for a Medical Appeal Board, which constitutes the third stage.
14.3. At the third stage, the member will be examined by an independent medical practitioner, normally a specialist in the appropriate field, before meeting with the Chair of the Board and the practitioner, after which a final decision will be made.

MATERIAL FACTS 
15.
Mr Hare joined MPS in June 1980. He was employed as a scene of crime officer until his suspension from service on 24 November 1994. He was dismissed from service on 19 June 1998 for gross misconduct. The gross misconduct included theft, conspiracy to import drugs, conspiracy to deceive Crime Stoppers, removal and possession of a finger-print record, removal and possession of a nominal subject index card, removal and possession of a MPS telephone, possession of print-outs and bringing discredit on to the MPS. Before Mr Hare was dismissed, he underwent internal disciplinary proceedings. However, Mr Hare did not receive a criminal conviction as the allegations made against him were dropped. His pension and benefit entitlements were not affected by the internal disciplinary proceedings.
16.
Mr Hare has stated that for a long period of time he had experienced a range of mental health symptoms including chronic alcohol abuse and that these contributed to the events leading up to his dismissal. He argued that his alcoholism and associated mental health illness were a consequence of post-traumatic stress occasioned by his work as a scene of crimes officer, which involved him having to attend and examine crime scenes including murder scenes and exhumations for the purpose of collecting physical evidence.  He suggested that it was his reaction to his experience of the more distressing scenes that caused his post traumatic stress disorder and associated mental illness. As part of the disciplinary process submissions were made that Mr Hare was seriously ill during the period to which the above eight charges related and that the illness was largely due to work-related stress.
17.
Mr Hare cited two events in particular as causing emotional disturbances.  Firstly, the murder of a young girl in 1981 where Mr Hare saw her corpse in a state of decomposition. Secondly, the lifting from the ground of the rotting corpse of a young boy who had been the victim of paedophiles. 
18.
At a meeting dated 16 July 1997, Mr Brian Gittins, who was Mr Hare’s line manager, decided after taking advice from a Dr Prothero that Mr Hare’s PTSD would not preclude Mr Hare from attending a disciplinary hearing. His minute of that decision also stated that PTSD is not a mitigating factor in relation to the offences of which Mr Hare was accused.
19.
On 12 February 1998, Mr Gittens noted the following decision taken by Mr Gittins not to support Mr Hare’s application for MER:

“I refer to our meeting on 6 February when we discussed this matter with Mike Shurety and Richard Skipper. 

I confirm my decision, following careful consideration of this file and listening to the advice which I received, to support the position taken by Mr Coombes that the medical retirement route should not be followed for Mr Hare.

In light of the above, this matter, should now proceed to a civil staff discipline board.”

20.
Mr Hare unsuccessfully appealed against his decision. As part of his appeal he wrote: 

“The Discipline Board appear to have disregarded the vast amount of medical evidence that explains my condition and it’s consequences.

It appears I am being dismissed because I am or was ill. I did not and could not possess the ‘mens-rea’ to commit any criminal or disciplinary offence. 

As I cannot work because of my wrecked condition I respectfully suggest that a medical retirement rather than dismissal be the correct course of action.”

Medical evidence of Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD)
21.
A report was issued by Dr Morgan O’Connell on 9 July 1997 at the request of Prospect (Mr Hare’s union). Mr O’Connell is a consultant psychiatrist who specialises in PTSD. Mr O’Connell studied reports and medical reports from Mr Hare’s GP, interviewed Mr Hare and his wife and examined Mr Hare before concluding that Mr Hare was suffering from PTSD and that this was caused by his work. He noted in particular that Mr Hare had been referred by his GP Dr. Ian Woolfe, a consultant physician, at North Middlesex Hospital. Mr O’Connell noted Mr Woolfe’s findings as follows:

“His job is extremely stressful and indeed he was promoted into his present position because his Boss hung himself. It seems other people in similar positions suffer with nervous breakdowns ….. 

….. he is also terrified of having any more time off because he tells me that the Police would automatically call for his medical notes and would sack him or shunt him out if they saw any indication about stress. It would seem to me that this would be a very desirable option in that it would get him out of his job but he feels he cannot leave. I have seen his wife on several occasions and his Father and both are desperate, extremely anxious and very keen for Mr Hare to leave his job.” 

22.
Dr O’Connell also considered and noted the findings of a Dr Farewell at the Hendon Medical Centre. In relation to Mr Hare’s alcoholism Dr Farewell had said:

“He found that if he had a drink at night he could sleep well and I would suspect that this was used as a relief for stress and a way out of tension inherent in his work.”

23.
Dr O’Connell noted that Mr Hare had been referred to the Claybury Hospital in January 1994 where he was diagnosed as suffering from alcoholism and depression. Dr O’Connell also noted that the first reference to PTSD was made in October 1996.
24.
Dr O’Connell’s own opinion on Mr Hare’s condition was as follows:

“Clearly Mr Hare has been having difficulties for many years, these were recognised by his colleagues at work, his wife, his GP and latterly by specialist services within the NHS. His Line Officers recognised it and indeed arrangements were made for his detoxification at the Hendon Medical Centre when clear reference to the stress he was experiencing at work was recorded. 

It is clear that his alcoholism developed as a consequence of heavy drinking in a culture that colluded with such behaviour. He found some solace in drinking in as much as it helped him to sleep ie. for a period of time it suppressed the nightmares.

He gives a clear history, corroborated by his wife of developing the full-blown Syndrome of Post Traumatic Stress Disorder characterised by pre-occupation with events witnessed of a horrific nature, nightmares relating to these events, avoidance of situations reminiscent if at all possible, psychic numbing with sexual dysfunction, mood swings, problems with memory and concentration – many of these symptoms appear to have been recognised by his superiors without any attempt on their part to deal with the situation. 

In my opinion, given the knowledge prevalent at the time, and in particular in light of the Report commissioned by the Police in 1990 [Dr Duckworth’s Report on Stress in the Police] it is clear that the warning signs were ignored and in particular no allowance appears to have been made for the fact that he was in an at-risk occupation i.e. that of the equivalent of a body handler. 

He is still suffering from Post Traumatic Stress Disorder and is urgently in need of therapy, such therapy would entail Group Therapy for a period of six weeks followed up by long term aftercare. It is essential that the family be involved in this therapy.”

25.
On 17 November 1997 Dr Mary Logan, Mr Hare’s GP, wrote to the Head of Personnel at MPS as follows:

“I have been informed by Mr Hare this morning that he is to be sacked if he does not leave himself automatically - as a result of the investigation that is being carried out by yourself. 

I am amazed by this. Specialists have seen him and confirmed that he very definitely has signs of post traumatic stress disorder. This has clearly been brought on by his experience working with the police. It is now documented in various places in the press, that a significant number of scene of crime officers develop post traumatic stress disorder. I have been seeing Mr Hare since 1991. You will have seen the notes. Because at the time Mr Hare was nervous that the police would ask for his records, and would sack him if there was any notes in the records to say he was suffering from stress related to his work, I never recorded in the notes that the underlying cause of his stress was work. However, in all the discussions dating back from 1991 it was very clear that the main problem was the horror he felt at the various scene of crimes he attended – giving him flashbacks in the night, when he woke up drenched with cold sweat in horror of what had happened etc. He dealt with this by drinking in order to try to forget what he had been doing during the day ….. When he finally went off work he then successfully managed to come off alcohol and has stayed off alcohol ever since. It is very clear that alcohol was not the underlying problem, but was a secondary problem, which he used to try to deal with the main underlying problem. I find it absolutely amazing that the police are not accepting this very clear story. 

If he is now sacked or has to leave, he will be very unlikely to get work anywhere else because of this record and I think he is at an exceedingly high suicide risk. I would like this placed on record. I would also like this letter to be passed on to whoever it needs to be passed onto, at whatever highest level it needs to be passed onto, for something to be done.” 

26.
Dr Logan provided the Directorate of Occupational Health at MPS) with a further report on 23 March 2000. She noted that :

“I have been Mr Hare’s GP since 1985. When he first registered here he was drinking on average 14 units per week. In 1991 he consulted with symptoms of alcohol abuse and talked about needing alcohol to help him sleep and blot out images which were disturbing his sleep, which were images from the scene of crime work he was doing. He continued to drink to cope with this and had alcohol related fits in 1993. He detoxed a couple of times, but went back to alcohol each time, until he finally stopped alcohol permanently in July 1995, when he was no longer doing scenes of crime work. He has never gone back to alcohol since, which convinces me that his account was correct, i.e. he was using alcohol to deal with the horrors he was experiencing from his work. 

The psychologist diagnosed post traumatic stress disorder in 1996. I fully concur with this diagnosis. …..

I have no doubt that if he went back to doing the same work that he would again need to resort to alcohol to deal with it.

I understand it is now normal practice to offer counselling to people involved in scene of crimes work, which seems to be very sensible. I feel that Mr Hare is suffering from the fact that this is not available when he was doing the work, and he continues to have very frequent and powerful flashbacks which shows that he continues to suffer from post traumatic stress disorder.” 

27.
On 28 March 2001 a report was prepared by Diana Parkinson, Mr Hare’s trauma counsellor which was also submitted to the MPS. Ms Parkinson noted the following:

“I first saw Peter on 6 January 2000 after he telephoned me for an appointment. …..

At our first meeting which took place on a cold winter’s day, Peter was not wearing socks, he was clearly in a depressed state, and in desperate need of help. It later emerged that he was planning to commit suicide as he was certain that counselling would be too painful, as his previous experience had quite literally terrified him. …..

Something which impressed me greatly about Peter was that once he had left his job he was able to stop using alcohol. That seemed to be a clear indication that he has been using alcohol to block out the emotional pain caused by his work experiences. Even though he has continued to suffer enormously from the continuing replay of traumatic work related experiences he has abstained from drinking. While he was working he was unable to achieve abstinence. I felt that although he could not see himself as courageous he had shown courage in staying alive and not drinking, even though he was suffering so much pain. …..

As our sessions progressed there were certain memories from events Peter had experienced when working, that he would recall. When this happened he would have to “play the tape” from beginning to end. These “tapes” would be an intense experience where Peter would be re-living scenes of crime he had attended and the work involved around these cases. In particular there were two cases that would be replayed more than the others, and out of these two, one seemed to be the first incident that had traumatised Peter. 

The case was the murder of a young girl in 1981, Peter had seen her corpse which had been found in a state of decomposition. He then found himself in the family flat, in the girl’s bedroom, surrounded by her personal belonging’s photographs, books, clothing, all reminders of a living, breathing child, whom he had witnessed in a dreadful state, in death. He was aware of the family of this dead girl, downstairs, distraught in their grief, her father screaming in his pain. When he went to take his leave the mother of the girl stopped him on the staircase, placed her hand on his arm, and looking him in the eyes, asked why she could not see her daughter’s body. It seemed at this moment in time, he told me that he could not tell the mother the real reason she could not see her daughter, but he believes and still believes, she knew what he knew.

Attached is a check list and assessment sheets which use diagnostic criteria for Post Traumatic Stress Disorder as described in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV) produced by the American Psychiatric Association. These have been completed with Peter’s answers which are applicable at the date of writing this report.

The second case which Peter re-experiences was that which involved lifting the rotting corpse of a young boy from the ground. This child had been the victim of paedophiles, and this case causes Peter enormous anguish, as well as anger that he believed one of the perpetrators of this child’s murder went unpunished through lack of evidence. 

It is important to remember that Peter himself is a father, he has a son and daughter of his own. I wonder how much of his inability to function sexually is connected with these experiences. He is frightened to feel love, is unable to show emotion, to cry. He tells me he received three commendations whilst working, there seems to be a huge contrast between how he is now and how he was many years ago. 

For the last fifteen months I have worked closely with Peter. He strikes me as a scrupulously honest person, which explains some of the emotion experienced when he had to lie to the mother of the murdered girl. During our sessions I have seen a great improvement, although he is still far from recovery. I would hope that once these present negotiations with Occupational Health are resolved he will be able to put the past behind him and move forward. I believe he will need therapy for some time to come. 

Peter had given me a copy of the confidential psychiatric report prepared by Morgan R O’Connell MB BCh BAO (NUI) DPM FRC.Psych and dated 9 July 1997 which gives a clear diagnosis of Peter’s state of health, everything contained in that report still applies. It is to be wondered why this man and his family were not given professional help at that time.” 

Application for Injury Benefit
28.
An application for injury benefits was made on 15 November 2000 on the basis that Mr Hare’s PTSD was a direct consequence of his employment with the MPS. 
29.
Mr Hare was examined by Dr N Cooling, the MPS Consultant Psychiatrist. In his report dated 6 June 2001, Dr Cooling stated that Mr Hare’s inability to perform his job was due to his long-standing problem with alcoholism. The report stated:

“OPINION:

My opinion is that Mr Peter Hare has longstanding alcoholism. His heavy drinking over a number of years impacted eventually on his ability to do his job. In my opinion the diagnosis in this case is one of chronic alcoholism. Mr Hare’s inability to function properly in his job was due to his chronic heavy drinking rather than because of the nature of his job. In my opinion this man certainly does not have post traumatic stress disorder and the burden of his symptomatology relates to his chronic heavy drinking which has been assessed as up to 30 units a day. Mr Hare has intermittent bouts of depression as a secondary consequence of his drinking. At the present time Mr Hare says that he has been abstinent from alcohol for some time. He is not currently suffering from clinical depression. 

On the basis of my examination of the medical records, I would not support an injury award. This man’s primary diagnosis is one of alcoholism, which appears to have had its roots in his drinking behaviour in his early 20’s.”
Dr Cooling’s report also included:

“Mr Hare was dismissed from the MPS on the 19th June 1998 on the grounds of gross misconduct. The correspondence in Mr Hare’s file shows that a substantial element of his defence was that his actions and his state of mind were caused by chronic alcoholism and associated mental illness which in turn were a consequence of alleged post traumatic stress disorder occasioned by his work as a Scene of Crime Officer. There is an appeal against the dismissal and Mr Hare was granted a medical retirement on the 29th October 1999.”
Although Dr Cooling referred to Mr Hare being granted a ‘medical retirement’ the reference should have been to Mr Hare being allowed to receive early payment of his preserved benefits in accordance with Rule 3.14.

30.
On 12 July 2001 MPS wrote to Mr Jary:

“Further to my previous letters on this issue, I am writing to advise you that Peter Hare has been assessed by the Metropolitan Police Service Consultant Psychiatrist.

The purpose of [Dr Cooling’s] assessment was to ascertain whether there is a direct causal relationship between Mr Hare’s current health problems and his former role as a Scene of Crime Officer with the Metropolitan Police Service. In his report the consultant psychiatrist stated that he would not support an injury award.

It appears therefore that Peter Hart is not entitled to an injury award.”
31. On 21 December 2001, MPS wrote to Mr Jary to inform him that there was no right under the Rules to appeal against the medical evidence in which the decision was based and that the decision not to award him with an injury benefit was final.

Application for Medical Retirement
32.
An application for Medical Retirement was made on 31 January 1997. At the time, Mr Hare was suspended while under disciplinary investigation. No formal response to this application was made by the MPS. Nor was any medical evidence sought at that stage.
33.
The applications were repeated on 15 August 1997 after Mr Hare was dismissed on 3 August 1998. MPS wrote on 22 August 1997 that requests for medical retirement had to be supported by line managers and that as Mr Hare’s line manager did not support the request, then in accordance with the MPS procedures, the request could not be forwarded to the Occupational Health Directorate. 
34.
After representations on behalf of Mr Hare, medical reports were sent to the Occupational Health Directorate and Mr Hare was subsequently granted medical retirement from 29 October 1999, the date that MPS had received a renewed application. A medical retirement certificate was issued on 31 March 2000, backdated to 29 October 1999.

35.
On 15 November 2000, an application was made for the Medical Retirement benefits to be awarded retrospectively from 31 January 1997, the date had Mr Hare first applied. In support, it was argued that the first application made on that date would have been accepted by Occupational Health if it had been forwarded to them immediately by the Personnel Department.
36.
MPS informed Mr Jary on 18 September 2001, that they did not consider that they were culpable of causing any delay by inaction and that there was no reason why Mr Hare could not have attended medical examinations earlier. They said that as MPS medical officers could only certify medical disability from the date on which they see a patient, there was no case for backdating Mr Hare’s pension to 31 January 1997.

37.
On 19 September 2001, Mr Jary requested from the MPS information about the procedure for appealing against the decision. On 21 December 2001, the MPS replied stating that an appeal was not possible.

Internal Disputes Resolution Procedure (IDR) Stage 1
38.
On 8 October 2002 an application was lodged under IDR stage 1, to have payment of Mr Hare’s benefits backdated to 31 January 1997, the date he first applied for it, and for the refusal to award an injury benefit. The grounds for the application were based on the MPS’s decision letter of 12 July 2001, about the refusal of injury benefit. The letter:

1. lacked information and reasons for the decision.

2. relied upon unsound medical opinion in the form of Dr Cooling’s report of 12 June 2001. Dr Cooling had not examined Mr Hare for the purposes of the report (apart from seeing him briefly on 3 April 2001) and so it was difficult to assess what medical evidence Dr Cooling had used to reach his conclusions. Furthermore, Dr Cooling had not mentioned or even considered the reports by Morgan O’Connell of 9 July 1997 and Diana Parkinson of 28 March 2001, which provided compelling evidence of PTSD.

3. stated that Mr Hare’s current health problems were taken into account when looking at his former role as a scene of crimes officer rather than his state of health at the time of his application.

39. It was also claimed that Dr Cooling’s report of 6 June 2001 was flawed because:
39.1. he inappropriately referred to Mr Hare’s disciplinary allegations which could prejudice his medical assessment.
39.2. in places it gave a partial account of the facts, e.g:
39.2.1. it mentioned that Mr Hare had completed the first half of a law degree but failed to mention that the reason he did not complete it was due to his continuing mental health problems.
39.2.2. it incorrectly referred to his domestic circumstances (by stating that he was living with another person, whereas in reality it was his wife who was living with someone else).

39.3. it mis-reported parts of Mr Hare’s medical records, e.g:
39.3.1. by suggesting Mr Hare had a “couldn’t care less attitude” whereas his medical records state that he “couldn’t care less if he lives or dies”. 
39.3.2. by misquoting a medical report by a Dr Farewell (who worked for the MPS) as stating that “Mr Hare’s alcoholism began as a cure for sleeplessness” rather than the actual statement by Dr Farewell that “quite clearly Mr Hare’s problems are caused by his work.”

39.4. it did not refer to available clinical evidence that supported Mr Hare’s claim for an injury benefit, especially the reports by Morgan O’Connell an acknowledged expert on PTSD.

39.5. it disregarded what Diana Parkinson had put in her report that Mr Hare had now given up alcohol.

40.
The response to the IDR Stage 1 application about the backdating of benefits was that Mr Hare had not medically retired from service but had been dismissed. After his dismissal he applied for the early payment of his preserved pension which was granted. This is different to Medical Retirement and the early payment of the preserved pension is not enhanced as if it was an ill-health pension. Thus, it was said, there has been no refusal by the MPS to backdate Medical Retirement as there has been no Medical Retirement.

41.
The Stage 1 response about the refusal to pay injury benefit noted that the appeal was related more to medical evidence than to the procedures used by the MPS in assessing Mr Hare’s application. The MPS said that they would refer the medical evidence for review to a Dr Eileen Cahill-Canning, the MPS’s chief medical adviser within the Occupational Health Directorate. If after review, the MPS decided to award Mr Hare with an injury benefit this would be paid to him only upon reaching age 60, despite his preserved pension being paid early, as he had been dismissed from service.

42.
On 17 March 2003, the results of the review of medical evidence were communicated. Dr Cooling, not Dr Cahill-Canning,  had carried out the review. The MPS said that Dr Cooling had considered a total of seven medical reports, including those by Morgan O’Connell and Diana Parkinson, but still did not consider that Mr Hare’s medical condition was caused by his work at the MPS. Therefore no injury benefit was payable.

IDR Stage 2
43.
On 14 April 2003 an application was lodged to commence IDR stage 2 on both aspects of the dispute. 

44.
In respect of Medical Retirement, the application noted Mr Hare’s status as having been dismissed, but in receipt of early payment of a deferred pension as from 29 October 1999 (the date of his application as a deferred member). However, the request to have the pension backdated to 31 January 1997 would mean that Mr Hare’s status would change to having retired early on medical grounds, with the consequence that his pension would be enhanced. 
45.
In support of that claim it was argued that the first application for Medical Retirement was made before Mr Hare was dismissed, but had not been considered properly and was rejected without proper reasons being given without Mr Hare being told of his right to appeal. Furthermore, under S.7.1. of the Early Retirement Volume of the Pensions Manual, an employee who had been dismissed could still apply for a retrospective ill-health early retirement even if no application had been made before his dismissal. Mr Hare had, it was submitted, made his application before he was dismissed, but the application was not handled properly at the time. If it had been, then he might have been granted Medical Retirement from 31 January 1997.

46.
In respect of the refusal to grant an injury benefit, the application stated that the decision was flawed. Mr Hare should be assessed for an injury benefit as he was (eventually) granted a medical certificate on 31 March 2000, which effectively meant that he had an impairment of earning capacity. Mr Jary submitted that medical evidence showed that Mr Hare’s illness was caused by his work with the MPS, which meant that an injury benefit should have been awarded. Dr Cooling’s first report of 6 June 2001 had not sought to address whether there was a causal link between Mr Hare’s condition and his work as a scene of crimes officer, and ignored expert opinion (the report by Dr Morgan O’Connell) that a causal link existed. Dr Cooling also failed to explain why he felt he could contradict expert opinion to reach the decision he did. Criticism was also made that despite the MPS stating that the medical evidence would be reviewed by an independent person (Dr Eileen Cahill-Canning) it was actually reviewed by Dr Cooling who was the adviser that had made the original recommendation not to award injury benefit, and was not an independent person. 

47.
The Stage 2 IDR decision on the backdating of the injury benefit stated:
47.1
The MPS accepted that Mr Hare was not notified of his right to appeal the decision not award him with Medical Retirement but the fact that he appealed anyway meant that his position was not prejudiced. 
47.2
The reason for not granting Medical Retirement was because Mr Hare’s line manager declined to support Mr Hare’s application. Therefore the decision not to award Medical Retirement was made properly. 
47.3
S.7.1.3. of the Scheme Rules does not allow for a retrospective Medical Retirement for deferred members with preserved benefits, of which Mr Hare is one. It does, however, allow the early payment of preserved benefits for former members on the grounds of ill-health. 
47.4
S.7.1.4. of the Rules states that former members who resigned because of ill-health can be considered for backdated ill-health early retirement but not staff who were dismissed, as Mr Hare was. This Rule only operates in exceptional circumstances such as for staff who are suffering from a terminal illness. Mr Hare’s position was not exceptional. 
47.5
Mr Hare’s application to have his preserved benefits paid early was treated separately from his earlier application for MER. His appeal against the decision not to grant MER was thus reviewed independently. The Scheme Rules do not provide a link between a decision to bring a preserved pension into early payment and the granting of MER. 

48.
About the refusal to grant an injury benefit, the IDR stage 2 decision stated:
48.1
The MPS accepted that they gave Mr Hare incorrect information when they told him that he could not appeal against the decision not to grant an injury benefit.
48.2
There is no formal procedure for appeals in relation to civilian  staff with the MPS. This is because there are very few injury benefit applications among civilian staff. Each case is dealt with on an individual basis. This is not the same as having an automatic formal right to appeal a decision. There is a right to appeal but no formal procedure is in place. This is the information that should have been given to Mr Hare, rather than a blanket statement of not having a right to appeal.
48.3
The IDR procedures offer the opportunity for appeals on all pension matters and the Stage 2 application would be used as a forum for Mr Hare’s appeal against the decision not to award him with an injury benefit.
48.4
First of all, a review of all medical evidence was conducted at the Stage 1 IDR application and an opinion was provided by Dr Cooling. Although it was Dr Cooling who formed the original decision not to award Mr Hare an injury benefit, it was decided that he should review the medical evidence again (rather than have an independent person to conduct a review). Dr Cooling conducted the review properly by considering all evidence and his opinion that an injury benefit should not be granted remains. 
48.5
Although a medical retirement certificate is an acknowledgement of an impairment of earning capacity and recognises that a person cannot perform their job, the certificate is not an indication that a person has an impairment of earnings ability because of that condition. 
48.6
Under S.11.6. of the Rules, injury benefit can be awarded to former members who were dismissed but only at the normal retirement age of 60. 

SUBMISSIONS BY THE MPS
49.
In relation to Mr Hare’s application for Medical Retirement it cannot be acceptable that an employee who is subject to disciplinary action for misconduct or gross misconduct can escape the potential consequences of such action, if found substantiated, by being granted a medical early retirement. Nevertheless Mr Hare’s application for medical early retirement was, in fact, considered by his senior line management and the HR Directorate during the disciplinary process. After seeking advice from the Occupational Health Directorate, the decision by line management and HR Directorate was that the application should not be granted and that the disciplinary process should continue. 
50.
Mr Hare was dismissed on the grounds of misconduct in June 1998. In October 1999 he asked for his preserved pension to be put into early payment on medical grounds. The Rules of the MCSSS allow for such an arrangement, provided that a medial practitioner certifies that the individual’s health justifies early payment. 

51.
In summary, there were two distinct and separate applications and processes. The first was Mr Hare’s application for Medical Retirement as an alternative to disciplinary action. The Medical Retirement application was fully considered by his line management and by the Occupational Health Directorate. However it was decided that Medical Retirement should not be granted and that the proposed disciplinary action alleging gross misconduct should proceed. The second was the subsequent application for putting Mr Hare’s preserved pension into early payment on the grounds of ill-health. Taking account of circumstances at that later time, the medical adviser concluded that the medical grounds were such that the preserved pension could be brought into payment. Such an arrangement was in accordance with the rules of the MCSSS but it does not constitute a Medical Retirement. These two distinct processes were properly followed at the relevant times.
52.
There is no reference in the Scheme Rules to line managers’ consent being required for medical retirement. It is however the Human Resources policy of the MPS that such support is required before a person can be considered for medical retirement. The standard procedure was followed. There was no deviation from the agreed and accepted process.
53.
Police Regulations specifically exclude police officers under discipline from being medically retired whilst awaiting the outcome of a decision for a discipline offence. Whereas Mr Hare was not subject to those Regulations, MPS as an employer seeks where possible to be consistent in its approach when dealing with both officers and staff to provide parity of treatment. That would be particularly relevant in this instance where the job undertaken by Mr Hare was an operational role and he was working closely with police officers. The process – albeit that it is not laid down in the Scheme Rules – was followed correctly and it was right that an application for a medical retirement should not have taken precedence over the discipline matters. The standard practice of the MPS was that discipline matters had first to be settled. That is why no formal response was given to Mr Hare’s application nor was any medical evidence sought at that stage. In so much as the standard process was processed it is appropriate now to conclude that a medical retirement should have been granted at that time.

54.
It is entirely reasonable to conclude that medical retirement would almost certainly have been granted had there been no discipline issues, but taking medical evidence now in isolation is not a fair reflection on the situation. The MPS was fully sympathetic to Mr Hare’s medical condition, but the decision was that Mr Hare’s PTSD was not a mitigating factor in relation to the offences of which he was accused. Indeed given the list of allegations it is easy to see why the discipline proceedings had to be instituted. The fact that these proceedings resulted in his dismissal meant that the potential for medical retirement ceased to exist. From that point he could only apply to have his preserved award put into payment early on medical grounds and Mr Hare was successful in that application. The MPS therefore submits that taking into account all of the prevailing circumstances we could not award a medical retirement at the time.
55.
In relation to Mr Hare’s application for Injury Benefit, Dr Cooling did not have to hand reports from Dr O’Connell and Ms Parkinson at the time he saw Mr Hare in April 2001. The reports arrived at the Occupational Health Directorate five days before the date of the interview but it now seems that their existence was not drawn specifically to Dr Coolings attention. He saw them subsequently when Mr Jary referred to them in Mr Hare’s Stage 1 IDR application. However the reports did not cause Dr Cooling to alter the opinion he had already expressed. 
56.
Dr Cahill-Canning did not review the medical evidence for the Stage 1 IDR procedure as initially intended, because Dr Cooling had not seen the reports completed by Dr O’Connell and Ms Parkinson. Dr Cahill-Canning therefore referred the matter back to Dr Cooling. It was considered to be proper practice for Dr Cooling to review the medical evidence (as well as the reports he had not yet seen) in light of this.

57.
Requiring payment of a pension from 3 September 1997 would fail to take account of what would have happened had the disciplinary proceedings not taken precedence: in a straightforward case it would take four to six months before a doctor gave a decision about a medical retirement. It is also relevant that Mr Hare was on full pay until 6 August 1997 and had half pay until 2 September 1997.

CONCLUSIONS
Injury Benefit
58.
At first the MPS stated that there was no right of appeal against a decision about injury benefit. This was incorrect as, according to the MPS a procedure was in place, albeit informal. 
59.
For Mr Hare to be entitled to injury benefit he must have suffered an injury in the course of his official duty as a scene of crimes officer and such injury must be solely attributable to the nature of the duty or arising solely from an accident reasonably incidental to that duty. There is overwhelming medical evidence that Mr Hare has suffered an injury in the form of PTSD and that this injury was solely attributable to his work.
60.
There is however a complication in that there is evidence that Mr Hare is also suffering from alcoholism. Mr Hare claims this is itself a consequence of his PTSD but Dr Cooling has advised that it was a pre-existing condition. It is not clear to me on what evidence Dr Cooling came to the view that alcoholism preceded the trauma which led to the PTSD. Even if the alcoholism did precede the PTSD, this does not mean that the earlier injury cannot of itself be seen as a qualifying injury. Untidy though it may be, some people can suffer at the same time from two different conditions. If either of those conditions is caused by Mr Hare’s work then the first test for whether an injury award has been met. That should then lead on to the assessment of whether that injury (as opposed to the other) is having an impairment on earnings capacity. Of course if both conditions are caused by work then an overall assessment can be made.  
Medical Retirement
61.
It is important to bear in mind that there are two separate provisions within the Scheme. A member can retire on medical grounds and thereby receive an enhanced pension. Alternatively, a member who has already left service with a preserved pension (ie. one not usually payable until normal retirement date) but who then falls ill may apply for the preserved pension to be brought into immediate payment. Such a pension is not enhanced.

62.
Although Mr Hare had first applied for Medical Retirement on 31 January 1997, no such retirement had taken place before he was dismissed. The Scheme has a practice of retrospectively considering whether, despite retirement being for some other cause, MER ought nevertheless to be applied. That practice does not have any basis within the rules of the scheme but is a possible way of mitigating injustice which might otherwise arise from a failure properly to have considered an application at a time when the member concerned was still in service. 

63.
Mr Hare’s argument is that if his application had been properly considered at the outset it would have been granted and thus he would have retired on medical grounds and not by reason of dismissal. I observe that there is an element of speculation in that argument. Mr Hare had been suspended from duty since 1994. Had the disciplinary proceedings not taken a long time to complete they might have been concluded (and Mr Hare might have been dismissed) before 1997 thus casting doubt on the relevance of 31 January 1997 as the date when in his view Medical Retirement should have been granted.

64.
Medical Retirement was not at first considered because Mr Hare’s line manager did not support his application. I can find no reference in the Rules of the scheme to the line manager’s consent being required. The questions that needed to be answered in considering Medical Retirement are whether the person concerned is prevented by ill health from discharging his duties, and that his ill health is likely to be permanent. The answer to that question does not depend on how the condition has been caused or on any view taken by line management. 

65.
It would no doubt be possible to frame the Rules which precluded or which postponed the possibility of Medical Retirement until the completion of any outstanding disciplinary action but I have not seen any such Rule. I have noted the submissions from MPS that it cannot be acceptable that an employee who is subject to disciplinary action for misconduct or gross misconduct can escape the potential consequences of such action, if found substantiated, by being granted Medical Retirement and about the need for consistency with the way police officers are treated. However desirable it may seem to be for police officers and civilian employees to be treated the same way, the legal reality is that they have a different status and a different pension scheme. It is simply not an option for an administrative practice to be adopted, which seeks to apply a procedure sanctioned for police officers to civilians for which no such sanction is provided. That MPS have been doing so consistently means they have been consistently wrong. 

66.
The effect of taking Medical Retirement may be to curtail the disciplinary proceedings but need not mean that the individual concerned escapes all consequences of his misconduct. Misconduct is highly likely to be a breach of contract and thus could be susceptible to a remedy be way of civil proceedings. In any event, as the Rules presently exist, the effect of disciplinary action is not directly relevant to whether medical early retirement would have been allowed.
67.
Clearly Mr Hare’s application was not initially properly considered. The evidence strongly suggests that had the matter been properly considered in 1997 Mr Hare’s state of health would have been found to be such as permit the grant of the necessary medical certificate and thus Medical Retirement would have been allowed.

DIRECTIONS
68.
Within 3 months of this determination the MPS shall assess what impairment to Mr Hare’s earnings has been caused by his PTSD. Medical advice as to the extent of impairment should be provided by a doctor who has no connection with Dr Cooling. Any arrears of an injury allowance due to him should be paid together with interest at the daily rate quoted by the reference banks.

69.
Within 3 months of this determination the MPS shall regard Mr Hare as having taken medical early retirement on 3 September 1997 and pay him interest on the arrears at the daily rate quoted by the reference banks.

DAVID LAVERICK

Pensions Ombudsman

16 August 2007
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